In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Case No. S207250

v.

PAUL BIANE, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E054422 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FSB1102102 The Honorable Brian McCarville, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUPREME COURT

MAR 1 4 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ISSUES PRESENTED

- a. Can a bribe offer or be charged with conspiracy to commit bribery, and aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe, where his conduct satisfies the elements of those crimes?
- b. Can a private person be charged with aiding and abetting a criminal conflict of interest violation?

INTRODUCTION

As alleged in a 29-count indictment, defendant Jeffrey Burum, a wealthy developer and managing partner of Colonies Partners ("Colonies"), conspired with San Bernardino County public officials, using the guise of a lawsuit settlement to transfer \$102 million of San Bernardino county funds to Colonies. Colonies - the plaintiff, and the San Bernardino County Flood Control District ("FCD") – the defendant, portrayed themselves to the public as adversaries in the lawsuit, but secretly, San Bernardino County Supervisors William Postmus, Paul Biane, and Chief of Staff Mark Kirk worked together with Burum. Using James Erwin as an intermediary, they marginalized the county's lawyers and forced San Bernardino into an unlawful settlement on terms dictated by Burum in exchange for Burum's promises of financial and political support. Burum followed through on those promises by making four payments of \$100,000 each to sham political action committees which were secretly controlled by Postmus, Biane, Kirk and Erwin.¹

¹ The indictment includes charges against Biane, Kirk, Erwin and Burum. The issues covered by the grant of review affect only those counts in which Burum and Erwin are charged with aiding and abetting bribery and conflict of interest. Postmus pleaded guilty to all charges in a related case for his role in the settlement. He has agreed to cooperate with the prosecution.

The comprehensive indictment details conduct which spanned four years and occurred on two continents. The 31 overt acts alleged in furtherance of the conspiracy detail a number of crimes committed by each of the defendants, some of which are separately charged, and some of which are uncharged. For example, the overt acts make it clear that Burum offered and paid bribes, but he is not separately charged with violating Penal Code section 85.²

Burum and Erwin are, however, charged together with aiding and abetting the acceptance of bribes by Postmus and Biane. The indictment explains that Burum enlisted the assistance of Erwin to engage in coercive conduct to insure there would be the necessary three votes in favor of the \$102 million settlement to Colonies. The indictment sets forth the use of threats, extortion and other tactics by Burum and Erwin to wear down Postmus and Biane's resistance and compel them to accept the bribes and pressure each other to accept as well.

² All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated. Section 85 provides:

Every person who gives or offers to give a bribe to any Member of the Legislature, any member of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, school district, or other special district, or to another person for the member, or attempts by menace, deceit, suppression of truth, or any corrupt means, to influence a member in giving or withholding his or her vote, or in not attending the house or any committee of which he or she is a member, is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for two, three or four years.

Burum claims the statute of limitations had expired with respect to section 85, and that was the reason the crime was not charged. (Answer, p. 5.) This assertion is speculative, as the record is silent as to the prosecution's reasons, and in any event the matter has no apparent relevance.

Burum's demurrer to these charges was sustained, as was his demurrer to the conspiracy charge to the extent it was predicated on the bribery crimes. Relying on *People v. Wolden* (1967) 255 Cal.App.2d 798 ("Wolden"), which applied the rule from *People v. Clapp* (1944) 24 Cal.2d 835 ("Clapp"), the Court of Appeal affirmed, holding that as matter of law, a person who offered a bribe could not be charged with aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe. As to Erwin, however, the Court of Appeal agreed with the trial court that there was no legal impediment to charging an intermediary with aiding and abetting the acceptance of a bribe.³

This Court should overrule *Clapp*. Its faulty analysis has muddied the law, and its viability is questionable based on subsequent opinions by this Court. The absurd results foreshadowed by the dissent in *Clapp* become a reality here, where the mastermind of a massive bribery scheme is given a free pass while his underling is held criminally liable for the same conduct. Alternatively, *Clapp* should be limited to the context in which it arose - to those cases involving accomplice testimony under section 1111. In any event, the Court of Appeal's holding on the bribery charges should be reversed, because *Wolden* misapplied the *Clapp* rule to bribery charges, and the rule is expressly inapplicable under the circumstances presented here. Thus, the bribery charges against Burum and Erwin should be reinstated.

The conspiracy charge should also be reinstated. The Court of Appeal applied a narrow principle of federal common law (Wharton's rule) in a manner that conflicts with United States Supreme Court and Federal authority, and is inconsistent with this Court's decisions. Applying Wharton's Rule here violates public policy because it cloaks bribe offerers

³ The Court of Appeal nonetheless invalidated counts 5 and 8 against Erwin, finding the indictment failed to allege sufficient facts that Erwin acted as Biane's agent. (Slip Opn. at 23-24.) As set forth below, that ruling is also improper.

in a blanket of case law historically used to protect vulnerable, victim-like individuals.

Finally, this Court should reinstate the conflict of interest charges against Burum and Erwin and hold that private persons who aid and abet a criminal conflict of interest under Government Code section 1090 may be charged as principals under section 31. Case law and public policy support holding private persons accountable for aiding and abetting public officials committing crimes, and nothing in the statutory language or legislative history weighs against it. The Court of Appeal's superficial interpretation of *D'Amato v. Superior Court* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 861, led it to the erroneous conclusion that Government Code section 1090 reveals a legislative intent to exclude all aiding and abetting liability, but *D'Amato* supports such liability under the circumstances presented here.

In the century that has passed since this Court's decision in *People v*. *Coffey* (1911) 161 Cal. 433, legal developments have abrogated its holding and altered its definition of accomplice, but nothing has called into question *Coffey's* fundamental premise that, whatever the definition of accomplice, whether a person meets that definition depends on the facts. The Court of Appeal's holding unfairly deprived the People of the right to present proof that Burum and Erwin conspired to and did aid and abet the receipt of bribes, and commit a criminal conflict of interest. This Court should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal, clarify that there are no exceptions to aiding and abetting liability for those who offer bribes or for private persons who commit a criminal conflict of interest, and reinstate the charges in counts 1, 4, 5, 7, 8 and 11.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS⁴

A 29-count indictment filed against Jeffrey Burum, Paul Biane, Mark Kirk and James Erwin on May 9, 2011 alleges the following:

Defendant Jeffrey Burum offered bribes to San Bernardino County public officials to settle a lawsuit in favor of his company, Colonies Partners, on whatever terms he dictated. For his criminal plan to succeed, Burum needed the collective cooperation of three San Bernardino County supervisors to vote in favor of the lawsuit, so in addition to offering bribes to public officials to secure their individual cooperation, Burum enlisted the assistance of defendant James Erwin to put intense pressure on two supervisors to coerce each other to get the settlement done. Specifically, Burum and Erwin used a combination of threats, extortion, and inducements to wear down their resistance and secure the votes of Supervisors Bill Postmus and Paul Biane, and Burum bribed Chief of Staff Mark Kirk to influence Supervisor Gary Ovitt to vote in favor of the settlement. Ultimately, against the advice of all county attorneys and all private attorneys hired to represent the county, Postmus, Biane and Ovitt voted to settle the case for \$102 million on November 28, 2006. (CT 1-28.)

Between March and July 2007, Burum began paying the bribes by giving \$100,000 each to Postmus, Biane, Kirk and Erwin through phony political action committees which each of them secretly controlled. He also took Erwin on an extravagant jet trip and provided him with expensive gifts, which Erwin failed to disclose on his Fair Political Practices form. Biane, Kirk and Erwin failed to disclose the \$100,000 bribes on their Fair

⁴ The issues on review address the Court of Appeals' holdings that defendants' demurrers were properly sustained as to some counts, and improperly overruled as to others. (See § 1004.) Accordingly, the relevant facts are taken from the indictment.

Political Practices forms or on their income tax returns, all of which were filed under penalty of perjury. (CT 1-28.)

Among other charges, Burum and Erwin were indicted in counts charging them together with conspiracy (count 1, § 182); aiding and abetting the acceptance of bribes by Postmus and Biane (counts 4 and 5; § 165; counts 7 and 8; § 86); and aiding and abetting a criminal conflict of interest (count 11; Gov. Code, §1090). (CT 1-28.)

On August 19, 2011, the trial court partially sustained the defendants' demurrers. As pertinent here, the court sustained Burum's demurrer to counts 4, 5, 7 and 8 (and count 1, to the extent it was predicated on those crimes), on the grounds that, as a matter of law, a person who offers a bribe cannot be charged with aiding and abetting the receipt of a bribe. It overruled Erwin's demurrer on the same charges, finding that as the intermediary rather than the bribe offerer, there was no legal impediment to charging Erwin with aiding and abetting the receipt of bribes. The trial court overruled both demurrers as to count 11, holding that private persons can be charged with aiding and abetting a criminal conflict of interest. (CT 261-281.)

The People appealed the trial court's ruling sustaining Burum's demurrer in part. Burum and Erwin filed petitions for writ of mandate/ prohibition, wherein Erwin challenged the court's overruling of his demurrer on the bribery charges, and both challenged the court's overruling of their demurrers on the conflict of interest charge. The matters were consolidated. The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's ruling sustaining Burum's demurrer as to counts 4, 5, 7 and 8; reversed the trial court's order overruling Erwin's demurrer as to counts 5 and 8; and reversed the trial court's ruling overruling both defendants' demurrers as to count 11. The Court of Appeal also sustained the demurrer as to count 1 to

the extent it relied on charges for which demurrers had been sustained. (Slip Opn. at 38-40.)

On February 13, 2013, this Court granted the People's Petition for Review.

ARGUMENT

I. ANY PERSON, INCLUDING A BRIBE OFFEROR, CAN BE LIABLE FOR CONSPIRACY AND AIDING AND ABETTING THE RECEIPT OF A BRIBE IF HIS CONDUCT SATISFIES THE ELEMENTS OF AIDING AND ABETTING LIABILITY

Section 31⁵ authorizes aiding and abetting liability in clear and expansive terms. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeal carved out an exception for bribe offerors, concluding that, as a matter of law, such persons could not be charged with aiding and abetting the acceptance of a bribe. (Slip Opn. at 19.) It, in turn, extended its reasoning to conspiracy charges, holding that as the bribe offeror, Burum could not be charged with conspiracy to commit bribery. (*Ibid.*)

To reach that holding, the Court of Appeal relied upon *People v. Wolden, supra*, 255 Cal.App.2d 798, which was substantially based upon language from *People v. Clapp, supra*, 24 Cal.2d 835. *Clapp* should be overruled, because its flawed legal analysis has created confusion in the law, and its application violates public policy. Alternatively, its holding

⁵ Section 31, entitled "Principals defined," provides, in pertinent part:

All persons concerned in the commission of a crime, whether it be felony or misdemeanor, and whether they directly commit the act constituting the offense, or aid and abet in its commission, or, not being present, have advised and encouraged its commission . . . or who, by threats, menaces, command, or coercion, compel another to commit any crime, are principals in any crime so committed.

should be limited to situations involving corroboration of accomplice testimony, the context in which it was decided. In any event, the bribery charges should be reinstated because the *Clapp* doctrine by its express terms does not apply to the circumstances here. The conspiracy charge should also be reinstated, because the court's analysis invalidating the charge conflicts with controlling legal authority.

The indictment alleges Burum and Erwin conspired to, and did, aid and abet the receipt of bribes by Postmus and Biane. Law, logic and public policy compel the conclusion that the prosecution should not be foreclosed from charging and proving that Burum conspired to and did aid and abet the receipt of bribes simply because he also offered the bribes.

A. Coffey, Clapp, Wolden and the 1915 Amendment to Penal Code Section 1111⁶

Prior to 1915, California courts used the broad definition of aiding and abetting liability in section 31 to determine what persons were accomplices whose testimony required corroboration under the law. In 1915, the Legislature rejected the use of that definition for that purpose, and adopted a much narrower definition of accomplice, thereby expanding the class of witnesses whose testimony would support a conviction without corroboration. In this case, for the first time, the Court of Appeal applied

⁶ Penal Code section 1111 provides:

A conviction can not be had upon the testimony of an accomplice unless it be corroborated by such other evidence as shall tend to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense; and the corroboration is not sufficient if it merely shows the commission of the offense or the circumstances thereof.

An accomplice is hereby defined as one who is liable to prosecution for the identical offense charged against the defendant on trial in the cause in which the testimony of the accomplice is given.

the body of law pertaining to accomplice testimony to restrict the reach of aiding and abetting liability. The court relied on *People v. Coffey, supra*, 161 Cal. 433 ("*Coffey*"), *People v. Clapp, supra*, 24 Cal.2d 835, *People v. Wolden, supra*, 255 Cal.App.2d 798, and the 1915 Amendment to Penal Code section 1111 in reaching this result.

In 1915, the Legislature added the second paragraph to section 1111, defining accomplices for the express purpose of abrogating the rule of *People v. Coffey*. (*Wolden, supra*, at p. 803.) In *Coffey*, the defendant was a supervisor convicted of agreeing to receive and receiving a bribe in violation of section 165. He appealed his conviction on grounds that it rested on the uncorroborated testimony of a self-confessed accomplice. (*Coffey, supra*, 161 Cal. at p. 436.) The evidence in *Coffey* was "uncontroverted"; it established that witness Gallagher was another supervisor testifying under a grant of immunity; he acted as an intermediary on behalf of an individual named Ruef, and negotiated the exchange of money for votes between Ruef and board members, which took place as agreed. Based on those facts, this Court was called upon to determine the "legal question" as to whether Gallagher was an accomplice of Coffey whose testimony required corroboration. (*Id.* at p. 437.)

Coffey explained that as a general rule, juries were instructed on the law of accomplices and it was left to them to decide whether or not the witness was an accomplice as a matter of fact. However, where the facts were not in dispute, it was a question of law whether those "acts and facts" made the witness an accomplice. (Id. at p. 436) Coffey explained that in determining what acts or facts make one an accomplice, "the single, sole determinative consideration is the part which the witness has borne in the crime perpetrated." (Id. at p. 440.)

Coffey discussed the development of the law requiring corroboration of accomplice testimony. It explained that originally only convicted felons

were considered accomplices, and common law judges instructed juries to view their testimony with caution both because the accomplice was tainted by his own confession of guilt, and because he was testifying with a hope of immunity. (Coffey, supra, 161 Cal. at p. 438.) These accomplice instructions did not embody any rule of positive law but expressed considerations of the value and weight to be given to such evidence. In 1851, these cautionary principles were incorporated into the positive law with the enactment of section 1111, but the Legislature failed to define the term accomplice. (Ibid.) It did, however, "lay down certain rules from which an acceptable definition of accomplice may readily be derived." This included the broad language in section 31 setting forth aiding and abetting liability. "Certainly, since the law has said that all such persons are so tainted with guilt that they may be indicted as principals, it cannot be denied that they are also accomplices." (Id. at p. 439.)

Accordingly, *Coffey* applied the broad definition of aiding and abetting liability from section 31 to determine whether a person was an accomplice whose testimony required corroboration under section 1111. *Coffey* expressly rejected the notion that a person's designation as an accomplice turned on whether he could be prosecuted for any particular crime.

The declaration that one is an accomplice if he can be indicted for the same crime charged against the defendant on trial is perfectly sound, but the converse of the declaration, --namely, that if he cannot be indicted for the same crime, he is not an accomplice, is the merest sophistry which, ignoring the true test and meaning of the word, seeks to turn shadow into substance.

(Coffey, supra, 161 Cal. at pp. 441-442.)

Applying this broad definition of accomplice, *Coffey* held that in every case, as a matter of law, the giver and receiver of bribes were accomplices. (*Id.* at pp. 449-451.) *Coffey* reasoned that since the law has

denounced as separate crimes the "separate acts" of bribe giving and taking, holding parties accomplices to each other for the commission of these acts would make them principals in one crime and accomplices in the other at the same time for the same act. But *Coffey* saw no problem with this consequence because for the "given acts" only one punishment could be meted under section 654.⁷ (*Id.* at p. 442.)

The 1915 amendment to section 1111 abrogated *Coffey's* broad definition of accomplices for purposes of the corroboration requirement. It defined accomplice in the limited manner rejected by *Coffey* as "one who is liable to prosecution for the identical offense charged against the defendant on trial in the cause in which the testimony of the accomplice is given." Notably, there was no concurrent change in the law with respect to the definition of aiding and abetting liability in section 31 from which *Coffey* had derived the meaning of accomplice. Thus, the amendment narrowed the definition of "accomplice" for purposes of determining those witnesses whose testimony required corroboration, but left untouched the Legislative designation of "all persons involved in the commission of a crime" as principals in any crime so committed. (§ 31.)

In *People v. Clapp, supra*, the defendants were convicted of the crime of abortion. The defendants performed an abortion on a woman in the presence of her mother-in-law and sister-in-law. The defendants challenged their convictions on the ground that all three women were accomplices whose testimony required corroboration. (*People v. Clapp, supra,* 24 Cal.2d at p. 836.) This Court held no corroboration was required.

⁷ Section 654 provides, in pertinent part: "(a) An act or omission that is punishable in different ways by different provisions of law shall be punished under the provision that provides for the longest potential term of imprisonment, but in no case shall the act or omission be punished under more than one provision . . ."

Relying on the definition of accomplice in the amended section 1111, in contrast to the broader language in section 31, the court held, "[t]he mere fact that the witness is punishable for his cooperation with the defendant in the illegal transaction does not make him an accomplice." (*Clapp, supra,* 24 Cal.2d at p. 838.) Rather,

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