In the

Supreme Court

of the

State of California

SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 1 6 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.



PAUL BIANE, MARK KIRK, JAMES ERWIN, JEFFREY BURUM,

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL,
FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO
CASE NO. E054422,
SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT
CASE NO. FSB 1102102
HON. BRIAN MCCARVILLE, JUDGE

JEFFREY BURUM'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ARENT FOX LLP STEPHEN G. LARSON (SBN 145225) MARY CARTER ANDRUES (SBN 138486) JONATHAN E. PHILLIPS (SBN 233965) 555 WEST FIFTH STREET, 48TH FLOOR LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90013-1065

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

Mr. Burum, and the trial court and Court of Appeal properly rejected the People's attempt to plead around the statute of limitations by using an impermissible charging scheme. All future prosecutors need do to avoid this result is to bring legally competent charges in a timely manner. The People's failures here are not a "public policy concern" justifying abrogation of the long-standing and well-reasoned general rule of *Clapp* and *Wolden*.

The People's second "policy" argument is that application of *Clapp* and Wolden would undermine the legislative intent behind Section 1111, which the People argue "was to prevent convictions based solely upon the self-serving and inherently suspect statements of accomplices." (OB, pp.17-18.) The People cite to the dissent in *Clapp* for the proposition that any "exemptions" to Section 1111 should come from the Legislature, and not the courts. (Id. at p.18.) But the Clapp and Wolden rule does come from the Legislature. As the People admit, the 1915 amendment to Section 1111 was "for the express purpose of abrogating the rule of *People v*. Coffey." (Id. at p.9.) And what the Legislature abrogated was Coffey's holding that a bribe giver and bribe receiver were accomplices for purposes of Section 1111 regardless of the fact that they were not aiders and abettors of each other under Section 31. (Coffey, 161 Cal. at 440-441.) By abrogating this holding, the Legislature made its intent clear that bribe givers and bribe receivers are *not* accomplices of one another—which is precisely what Clapp and Wolden recognized.

Finally, it is important to recognize the actual public policy impact of the People's proposed rejection of *Clapp* and *Wolden*. Under current law, a bribe receiver can be prosecuted and convicted based solely on the uncorroborated testimony of the bribe giver (or vice versa). This is critical. After all, most bribery transactions are conducted in secret, making corroboration difficult, if not impossible. *Clapp* and *Wolden* – and the

amended Section 1111 – therefore provide an invaluable tool to prosecutors seeking to curb public corruption.

But if the People prevail in this appeal, corrupt public officials will more easily escape punishment. Under the People's theory, a bribe giver can be charged under Section 31 as an aider and abettor of the bribe receiver. Consequently, under Section 1111, the giver is an accomplice of the receiver, and his testimony must be corroborated. Lacking any other witnesses, and assuming the corrupt official concealed his receipt of the bribe, the prosecution will be unable to corroborate the businessman's testimony, and the corrupt official will escape liability. The People's zeal to prosecute Mr. Burum simply does not justify jeopardizing the ability of future prosecutors to effectively combat actual corruption going forward.

B. The Court of Appeal Correctly Held that Mr. Burum Cannot Be Charged With Conspiring to Commit the Crime of Receiving the Alleged Bribes

In addition to its holding on aiding and abetting liability, the Court of Appeal in *Wolden* held that:

Nor are the giver and receiver guilty of a conspiracy, because the two crimes require different motives or purposes.

(Wolden, 255 Cal.App.2d at 804, citing People v. Keyes (1930) 284 P. 1105⁹ and Calhoun v. Superior Court In and For San Diego County (1955) 46 Cal.2d 18, 41-42.) Recognizing this additional holding, the courts below dismissed the target crimes of bribery in Count 1. (Opn., p.19.) The People fail to provide any reason to reverse this result.

⁹ In *Keyes*, this Court denied review, but felt strongly enough about the Court of Appeal's improper ruling on conspiracy that it issued a per curium opinion explaining that a bribe giver and briber receiver cannot conspire with each other. (*Keyes*, 284 P. 1105.)

1. Wharton's Rule Is Irrelevant

As they did in their Petition for Review, the People grasp at a single reference by the Court of Appeal to Wharton's Rule—and then try to transform this dicta into the sole basis for the Court of Appeal's ruling. (OB, p.31.) Having erected this straw man argument, the People proceed to tear it down by demonstrating that Wharton's Rule has no application to the crime of bribery.

The People are right: Wharton's Rule is irrelevant. But it is more irrelevant than the People will admit. Contrary to the People's mischaracterization, the Court of Appeal did *not* rely on Wharton's Rule when ruling that the bribery conspiracy charge must be dismissed; rather, it relied on the principles set forth in *Wolden*. (Opn., p.19.) Indeed, the Court of Appeal's single-paragraph passing reference to Wharton's Rule is nothing more than dicta, and is not even contained in the section of the Opinion addressing the conspiracy charge. (Opn., p.17 [mentioning Wharton's Rule] and p.19 [addressing conspiracy].)

This is no surprise given that Wharton's Rule is fundamentally different than the rule in *Wolden*. As recognized by *Wolden* – and by this Court in *Keyes* and *Calhoun* – the giver and the receiver of a bribe cannot conspire with one another because they have "different motives or purposes." (Wolden, 255 Cal.App.2d at 804; see also People v. Swain (1996) 12 Cal.4th 593, 600 [conspiracy requires a showing "not only that the conspirators intended to agree but also that they intended to commit the elements of that offense." [Citation.] Italics in original.].)

Wharton's Rule, on the other hand, recognizes that the participants in certain crimes that require two or more persons cannot be convicted of conspiracy because the Legislature has signaled that any conspiracy should be merged with the substantive offense, even though all participants have the *same intent*. (See *People v. Mayers* (1980) 110 Cal.App.3d 809, 815.)

In other words, while Wharton's Rule is an *exception* to general conspiracy law, *Wolden* is consistent with, and indeed grounded in, one of the basic elements of a criminal conspiracy—namely, the requirement of common intent. (See *Swain*, 12 Cal.4th at 600.) Understandably, then, the Court of Appeal did not base its opinion on Wharton's Rule, and this entire portion of the People's Opening Brief is irrelevant.

2. The Court of Appeal Properly Relied on Wolden

Setting the People's Wharton's Rule diversion aside, the focus can now be turned to the actual basis for the Court of Appeal's ruling on the conspiracy charge:

Moreover, Wolden also holds that the bribe giver and the bribe receiver cannot be "guilty of a conspiracy, because the two crimes require different motives or purposes." [Citations.] Thus, we conclude the trial court also correctly sustained defendant Burum's demurrer to target crimes 1 and 2 of the conspiracy charged in count 1.

(Opn., p.19.)

This ruling is fully consistent with this Court's prior rulings on this issue. As explained in *Keyes*:

It is true that a set of defendants may conspire to give, or a set of defendants may conspire to receive or accept, a bribe, but bribery requires for its consummation the unlawful concert of one or more persons acting with one or more other persons having a different motive or purpose. That being true, there is in such a case no room for the operation of a charge of conspiracy.

(Keyes, 284 P. 1105, italics added.)

Twenty-five years later, the same conclusion was reached in *Calhoun*:

There are a number of crimes which two parties can agree to commit, but which they cannot conspire to commit, since they enter the agreement with different objectives. Bribery, adultery, bigamy and subornation of perjury are

crimes of this class. [Citation.] Two parties may conspire to give a bribe [citation]; they may conspire to accept a bribe [citation]; they may *commit* bribery, one giving and one accepting [citation]; but they cannot *conspire* to commit bribery, one to give and one to accept. [Citation.]

(Calhoun, 46 Cal.2d at 41-42, italics in original.)

This is the rationale – not Wharton's Rule – underlying the holding in Wolden that the giver and receiver of a bribe cannot conspire with each other. (Wolden, 255 Cal.App.2d at 804.) And this, in turn, was the rationale properly relied on by the Court of Appeal to affirm the dismissal of the bribery conspiracy charges against Mr. Burum. (Opn., p.19.) As with the improper aiding and abetting charges, the People have failed to provide any reason why this Court should overturn nearly a century of precedent to hold otherwise here.

C. If This Court Overturns Clapp and Wolden, Due Process Prohibits Retroactively Applying the New Rule of Law to Mr. Burum

Even if this Court overturns *Clapp* and *Wolden*, Mr. Burum cannot be prosecuted under the expansion of liability sought by the People without violating fundamental tenets of due process.

1. Due Process Precludes the Ex Post Facto Application of Laws and Judicial Decisions

"An ex post facto law is 'any statute which punishes as a crime an act previously committed, which was innocent when done, which makes more burdensome the punishment for a crime, after its commission, or which deprives one charged with crime of any defense available according to law at the time when the act was committed' [Citation.]" (*In re Baert* (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 514, 517.) The United States Constitution forbids ex post facto laws for several reasons. First, it protects liberty by

invalidating statutes with "manifestly unjust and oppressive" retroactive effects. (Calder v. Bull (1798) 3 U.S. 386, 391.) Second, it preserves a defendant's right to "fair warning" of the charges against him, allowing him to preserve exculpatory evidence and mount a defense. (Stogner v. California (2003) 539 U.S. 607, 611.) Third, it protects defendants from unwise laws passed "out of the feelings of the moment." (Fletcher v. Peck (1810) 10 U.S. 87, 137-38.)

This principle has been extended to judicial decisions through the Due Process Clause. (People v. King (1993) 5 Cal.4th 59, 79-80.) "[A] state Supreme Court, no less than a state Legislature, is barred from making conduct criminal which was innocent when it occurred, through the process of judicial interpretation." (People v. Morante (1999) 20 Cal.4th 403, 431.) Indeed, both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have recognized that "a judicial enlargement of a criminal statute that is not foreseeable, 'applied retroactively, operates in the same manner as an ex post facto law.' [Citation.]" (Id.; Bouie v. City of Columbia (1964) 378 U.S. 347, 353 [same].) Thus, a judicial decision cannot be retroactively applied if it is "unexpected and indefensible by reference to the law which had been expressed prior to the conduct in issue." (King, 5 Cal.4th at 80, quoting Bouie, 378 U.S. at 354; Rathert v. Galaza (9th Cir. 2006) 203 Fed. Appx. 97, 99 [reversing denial of habeas petition where "the California" Supreme Court retroactively abrogated a specific intent requirement established by a decade old, uncontradicted, and controlling appellate court case"].)

2. Because Overturning *Clapp* and *Wolden* Would Constitute an Ex Post Facto Judicial Decision, It Could Not Be Applied to Mr. Burum

It has long been the law in California that a bribe giver cannot conspire with, or aid and abet, a bribe receiver. Indeed, this Court has

spoken at least four times on the subject, and the Court of Appeal several more times:

- Keyes, 284 P. 1105 (the bribe giver and bribe receiver cannot conspire with each other);
- *Calhoun*, 46 Cal.2d at 41-42 (same);
- *Davis*, 210 Cal. at 557 ("the giver and receiver of a bribe are no longer accomplices one to another");
- Clapp, 24 Cal.2d at 839 (same);
- Bunkers, 2 Cal.App. at 204 (the Legislature "never intended that [the bribe giver and bribe receiver] would be interchangeably guilty as accomplices");
- Lips, 59 Cal.App. at 385 (bribe giver "was in no way concerned with the officers in either asking, receiving or agreeing to receive the bribe," because "[s]he was on the opposite end of the transaction");
- People v. Martin (1931) 114 Cal.App. 392, 395 (the bribe receiver is not an accomplice of the bribe giver);
- Bennett, 132 Cal.App.2d at 581 (analyzing bribery statutes to demonstrate that, where persons are not liable for prosecution for identical offenses, they cannot be accomplices);
- People v. MacKenzie (1956) 144 Cal.App.2d 100, 106 ("Those who pay a bribe are not accomplices of those who conspire to ask and receive the bribe.");
- Wolden, 255 Cal.App.2d at 804 ("Bribery is such a crime. The giver whose offense is specifically made a crime [citation] is not an accomplice in the separate and distinct crime [citation] of the receiver [citations]. ... Nor are the giver and receiver guilty of a conspiracy, because the two crimes require different motives or purposes [citations].").

Just as telling is the complete lack of any cases holding to the contrary. Indeed, the California courts have spoken with one voice for more than a century: A bribe giver simply cannot be charged with aiding and abetting, or conspiring with, the bribe receiver.

This rule is also reflected in California's model jury instructions on bribery. California's standard CALCRIM jury instructions on bribery, numbers 2600 and 2603, both cite *Wolden* for the premise that a bribe-giver cannot be the accomplice of a bribe-receiver. (MJN Exs. C & D.) Because of the "existence and wide publication of this standard instruction, it was foreseeable that it would be applied" here. (*Clark v. Brown* (9th Cir. 2006) 450 F.3d 898, 915 ["To evaluate foreseeability, we may also look to the CALJIC instruction in place at the time of trial."].) And, just as in *Clark*, there was "no indication whatsoever" that the same rule would not apply to Mr. Burum and the other defendants in the Indictment. (*Id.*)

Even the People have now recognized, at least implicitly, that this rule against derivative liability is both long-standing and unchallenged, as evidenced by their request that this Court *overturn* the established rule and instead apply a new, broader rule allowing them to charge Mr. Burum as the aider and abetter, and conspirator, of the bribe receivers. (OB, p.13.) But, as discussed above, the only case the People cite in which such a charging scheme is approved is a Michigan case applying Michigan bribery laws. (See *supra*, Section III.A.2.) As the United States Supreme Court has explained, "[i]t would be a rare situation in which the meaning of a statute of another State sufficed to afford a person 'fair warning' that his own State's statute meant something quite different from what its words said." (*Bouie*, 378 U.S. at 359-360.)

Thus, even if this Court overturns *Clapp* and *Wolden* now, Mr. Burum cannot be prosecuted under the new rule because doing so would violate due process. (*Moss v. Superior Court* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 396, 429 ["Like retroactive application of an 'unforeseeable and retroactive judicial expansion of' a statute [citation], retroactive application of a decision disapproving prior authority on which a person may reasonably rely in determining what conduct will subject the person to penalties, denies due

process."); *Devine v. New Mexico Dept. of Corr.* (10th Cir. 1989) 866 F.2d 339, 346 [finding that state supreme court decision was unforeseeable in light of published sources of state law].)

Importantly, it is irrelevant whether this Court agrees with the People that all of the prior published court decisions were in error. A due process violation can occur where "lower appellate courts [] consistently, but erroneously" apply a statute the same way. (People v. Farley (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 1697, 1706.) Nor does it matter that the Indictment alleges, but does not charge, that Mr. Burum gave a bribe. Whether the alleged wrongdoer's actions were innocent or "societally unacceptable," that distinction "is one of degree and does not alter [this Court's] fundamental inquiry" into due process concerns. (Baert, 205 Cal.App.3d at 521-522; People v. James (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 244, 275-276 [rejecting government's argument that there was no due process violation because defendant's conduct was not "completely innocent when committed"].)

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